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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

JAMES MARKETTE and BARBARA )
MARKETTE, )
)
Haintiffs, )
) No. 15-cv-05271
V. )
) JudgeAndreaR. Wood
HSBC BANK, USA, NATIONAL )
ASSOCIATION and ANSELMO )
LINDBERG OLIVER LLC, )
)
Defendants. )

MEMORANDUM OPINION

During the recession caused bg financial crisis of 2008, Rintiffs James and Barbara
Markette fell behind on their residential mogapayments. As a rdguDefendant HSBC Bank
USA, National Association (“HSBC”), as trustef the securitized trust that includes the
Markette’s mortgage, brought a fotesure action in state couRlaintiffs claim that HSBC and
its counsel, Defendant Anselmo Lindberg OlilzeC (“ALO”), employed unfair and deceptive
methods of debt collection ironnection with the foreclosure liagjon. The Markettes’ six-count
complaint asserts claims under the Fair Deble€Ction Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C.

§ 1692et seq.and the lllinois Consumer Fraud andd@ptive Business Practices Act (“ICFA”),
815 ILCS § 50%t seqNow before the Court are Defendsinnhotions to dismiss pursuant to
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12(bY(&hd 12(b)(6) (Dkt. No9 & 35). For the reasons

explained below, both motions are granted.

! Presumably, the reference to Rule 12(b)(IBI8BC’s motion to dismiss relates to the argument,

discussed below, that if the federal claims against it are dismissed, the Court should dismiss any remaining
state law cause of action for lack of subject-mattesdgliction. Seventh Circuit case law is clear, however,

that a district court does not automatically losppemental jurisdiction once all federal claims in a
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BACKGROUND

The following facts are takeénom Plaintiffs’ complainf On August 27, 2010, Defendants
filed a mortgage foreclosure complaint agathe Markettes seeking a personal deficiency
judgment. (Compl. Y 21-22, Dkt. No. 1.) The salag an assignment was executed stating that
Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems,. I(fIMERS”) had “previously assigned and
transferred to [HSBC] all title and intest& in the Markettes’ mortgage loand ({1 23-24.) The
assignment further states that “[t]his instrumsgitves to memorializhe transfer of this
mortgage loan which has previously taken plade.’{ 25.) The assignment was prepared by
ALO and recorded on September 23, 201d). {1 23, 26.) Shortly aftdiling the foreclosure
complaint and preparing the assignment, ALO filéid pendensvith the Lake County Recorder
of Deeds. Id. 1 27.}

It was later discovered that the descaptof HSBC in the complaint, assignment, #ad
pendens—"“HSBC Bank USA, National Assiation, as Trustee for SG Mortgage Securities Trust
2006-FRE1"—was a misnomeid( ] 29.) Defendants subsequeritlgd a motion to correct the
misnomer, stating that “[t]heorrect plaintiff name shodilbe HSBC Bank USA, National

Association, as Trustee for SG Mortgage SiiegrTrust 2006-FRE1, Asset Backed Certificates

lawsuit has been dismisseske Groce v. Eli Lilly & Cp193 F.3d 496, 500 (7th Cir. 1999¢esalso

Miller v. Herman 600 F.3d 726, 738 (7th Cir. 2010) (noting that supplemental jurisdiction persists even if
all the claims giving rise to original jurisdictionyebeen dismissed). Rather, the district court may

decline to exercise that jurisdiction. Therefore, Rule 12(b)(1) does not provide a basis for dismissal here,
and HSBC'’s motion, like ALO’s motion, will be treataed a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to
state a claim.

2 For purposes of deciding the instant motions, the {Gmaepts as true all well-pleaded factual allegations
set forth in the complaint and views them in the light most favorable to PlaiS&#s.e.g., Lavalais v. Vill.

of Melrose Park734 F.3d 629, 632 (7th Cir. 2013) (citihgevano v. Wal-Mart Stores, In@.22 F.3d

1014, 1027 (7th Cir. 2013)).

3 Plaintiffs allege that thks pendensloes not contain HSBC's address as required by the lllinois
Mortgage Foreclosure Law, 735 ILCS 5/15-1218(ii)(a). (Compl. $2&Dkt. No. 1.)



Securities 2006-FREL.1d. 1 31-32.) The Markettes did not learn of the misnomer until June
2014, when Defendants filed the motion to carrealong with their motion for summary
judgment in the foreclosure actioihd.( 30.) Plaintiffs claim thahe motion to correct still
contains a misnomer, as the actual name dfrtis¢ as reported on the Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC*S& Mortgage Securities Trust 2006-FREL,
Asset-Backed Certificates, Series 2006-FRE®."{{ 31, 33.)

In February 2012, the state court in theetdosure action ordered ALO to provide the
original mortgage noteld. 1 38.) Defendants failed to do so and, despite multiple discovery
requests concerning the custody aack of the note, Defendants didt reveal that they had in
fact lost it. (d. 11 38—-39, 44.) The Markettes did not learn that the note had been lost until they
received Defendants’ summary judgment papers;iwincluded a lost-note affidavit dated April
18, 2013. Id. 11 34-35.)

Then, in or around November 2012, the Markettes filed an amended affirmative defense in
the foreclosure action allegingathHSBC had failed to obtain @xecuted assignment prior to
filing its complaint (as the assignment was executed on the same day the complaint wad.filed) (
1 45.) In their amended affirmative defense, thelkdies also alleged thBiefendants had failed
to produce the original note despite state court’s order to do std.(f 51.) Defendants’ reply to
the amended affirmative defense, filed in lapeil 2013, did not contaiman explicit admission or
denial as to whether the ndtad been produced, but it charaizted HSBC as the holder of the
note and repeatedly assertedB43s possession of the notéd.(11 52-563 In addition, the reply

represented that the note’s erslment was blank, when in reality the note had a special

* The Markettes allege that Defendants’ replyhigir amended affirmative defense was incorrectly
captioned as a response, was not formatted in maghiparagraphs, and didt contain an explicit
admission or denial as to each of the allegations, albiation of the lllinois Code of Civil Procedure.
(Id. 7 5253.)



endorsement to HSBCd( 1 57, 69.)

After Defendants filed for summary judgmémthe foreclosure adn, the Markettes filed
a motion for discovery sanction$d(J 65.) In their response to that motion, Defendants
contradicted certain statements made inrtApril 2013 filing, including those relating to
HSBC'’s status as a holder of the note and the note’s endorselthef. §4—65, 72—73.) The
Markettes allege that Defendantssponse also incorrectly statbat the parties had never had
an lllinois Rule 201(k) confence to attempt to resoltteeir discovery disputesid. 1 66—67.)
During a December 2014 hearing, ALO again misregméed that there had been no Rule 201(k)
conference.lfl. 1 68.) The state court jud¢gger admonished ALO fdhat misrepresentationd(
170.)

The Markettes subsequently brought this latisuederal court, Beging that certain of
Defendants’ conduct in connection with the fdosure litigation violagd the FDCPA and the
ICFA. First, Plaintiffs allegéhat both Defendants violated 8§ 163ffe¢he FDCPA, which broadly
prohibits debt collectors from using any “faldeceptive, or misleading representation or means
in connection with the collectioof any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692k particular, the Markettes
allege that the following misrepresentationsstitute violations o§ 1692e: (1) the misnomer,

(2) the assignment, (3) misrepresentatianscerning possession of the note and the note’s
endorsement, (4) misrepresentations conogrtiie Rule 201(k) conference, and (5) the
assignment, lost-note affidavit, and other documents bearing the misnomer themselves.

In Count Il of their compliat, the Markettes allegedhALO violated the FDCPA'’s

specific prohibition against any “false represéntaor implication thaainy individual is an



attorney or that any communication isrft an attorney.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692e{#ccording to
Plaintiffs, the errors, contradiotis, and misstatements in Defendafdreclosure filings indicate
that ALO was not meaningfully involved in paing them, and the attays’ signing and filing
of those documents thus constitutes a false reptason or implication that they were “from an
attorney.”
In Count Ill, the Markettes lelge that Defendants’ use of a name other than the true name
of the subject trust in the complaifis pendensand assignment coitsites a violation of
8 1692e(14) of the FDCPA, whigirohibits “the use of any bugss, company, or organization
name other than the true name of the deliector’'s business, conay, or organization.” 15
U.S.C. § 1692¢e(14).
Count IV alleges that Defendants deliberately misrepresented the character and legal status
of the Markettes’ mortgage by failing to give atae date for its assignment, in violation of
8 1692e(2)(A) of the FDCPA, which prohibits théstarepresentation of the character, amount, or
legal status of any debt. Accongj to the Markettes, Defendantsfusal to provide a certain date
on which the mortgage was transferred misstateshhracter and legal status of the debt in
several ways and has mategahsequences for the parties.
In Count V, Plaintiffs claim that Defendahtonduct as alleged in Counts | through 1V
also constitutes a vidian of 8 1692f of the FDCPA, which g@hibits debt collectors from using
any “unfair or unconscionable means to collecttempt to collect any debt.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692f.
Lastly, in Count VI, the Markettes claithat HSBC committed unfair and deceptive acts

in violation of the ICFA. Firstthey allege that HSBC failed comply with certain loan

® Sections 1692e(1)—(16) of the FDCPA settfdé non-exclusive examples of conduct that would
constitute a violation of § 1692e’sdad prohibition on false, deceptive, or misleading representations or
meansSee Nielsen v. DickerspB07 F.3d 623, 634 (7th Cir. 2002).



modification and foreclosure premtion requirements as set forth in the Home Affordable
Modification Program Guidelines (“‘HAMP Guideér”) issued by the U.S. Department of the
Treasury. Specifically, the Markettes allege tH&BC did not screen their loan for imminent
default or apply a net presenfwatest prior to filing the foiosure action, as required by the
Guidelines. Second, Plaintiffs allege thatB{Sfailed to comply with an April 2011 consent
order issued by the Treasury Department’'sc@fof the Comptroller of the Currency (*OCC”).
Finally, the Markettes assertathHSBC did not comply witthe Internal Revenue Code’s
requirements for real estate ngage investment conduits (“REMS$”). According to Plaintiffs,
HSBC'’s non-compliance with the HAMP Guidedsy OCC, and Internal Revenue Code is
indicative of unfair and deceptigets prohibited by the ICFA.

In its motion to dismiss, ALO contends thaintiffs’ claims against it fail because the
FDCPA does not provide a federatmedy for violations of state caysrocedural rules and is not
to be used as a method to regulate ongoing state litigation. Accordingo ALO, the Markettes
raised all of the preséissues in their cross-motion fsammary judgment in the foreclosure
action and they should not be permitted to raise the same issues agderahdeurt. In addition,
ALO contends that the § 1692e o must be dismissed because the alleged misrepresentations
were not material. Finally, ALO asserts thatddlits alleged wrongdoing occurred outside of the
FDCPA's one-year statute of limitations.

HSBC argues that Counts |, I, IV, and V ftol state a claim agaihg because Plaintiffs
do not and cannot allege that BIS qualifies as a “debt collectowithin the meaning of the
FDCPA. According to HSBC, the FDCPA clainmsosild therefore be dismissed with prejudice,
and the Court should decline to exercise suppldal jurisdiction over the remaining state law

claim. Alternatively, HSBC contends that Codttshould be dismissed because the Markettes



have failed to allege a timelglausible claim under the ICFA.
DISCUSSION

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 8(a) regsitkat a complaint contain “a short and plain
statement of the claim showing that the pleadentgled to relief.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2). To
survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion thsmiss, the short and plain gtatent must meet two threshold
requirements. First, the complaint’s factual alteges must be sufficierib give the defendant
fair notice of the claim anthe grounds upon which it res&ell Atl. Corp. v. Twomb|y5650 U.S.
544, 555 (2007). Second, the complaint “must cordafficient factual matter, accepted as true,
to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its facAshcroft v. Iqbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)
(quotingTwombly 550 U.S. at 570). While a complamged not contain detailed factual
allegations, there “must be enough to raisgatrio relief above the speculative levaiWwombly
550 U.S. at 555. “A pleading that offers ‘labels aodclusions’ or ‘a formulaic recitation of the
elements of a cause of action will not ddgbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quotinfwombly 550 U.S. at
555). Rather, “[a] claim has faciplausibility when the plaintiff gads factual content that allows
the court to draw the reasonable inference tletidiendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”
Adams v. City of Indianapolig42 F.3d 720, 728 (7th Cir. 2014) (quotiapal, 556 U.S. at 678).
In other words, “[a] complaint must allege fatb support a cause of action’s basic elemelds.”

“When a plaintiff in federal court allegésud under the ICFA, the heightened pleading
standard of Federal Rule Givil Procedure 9(b) appliesPirelli Armstrong Tire Corp. Retiree
Med. Benefits Trust v. Walgreen C631 F.3d 436, 441 (7th Cir. 201Rule 9(b) requires that
the complaint “state with particularity the airastances constituting fraud.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).
To meet that standard, the pl#inordinarily must “describe[e] the who, what, when, where, and

how of the fraud."Camasta v. Jos. A. Bank Clothiers, |61 F.3d 732, 737 (7th Cir. 2014)



(quotingAnchorBank, FSB v. Hofe49 F.3d 610, 615 (7th Cir. 2011)). However, when an ICFA
claim alleges an unfair practice, the k&ld pleading standards of Rule 8 govétinelli, 631 F.3d
at 446.

I. FDCPA Claims Against ALO

As described above, Plaintiffs’ FDCPA cfe against ALO are premised on (1) alleged
misrepresentations relating to the misnomes aksignment, possession of the note and the note’s
endorsement, the Rule 201(k) conference, aaditituments bearing the misnomer themselves;
(2) alleged errors, contradictions, and misstatemam$.O’s filings in the foreclosure litigation;

(3) Defendants’ alleged use of a name other tharirue name of the subject trust in the
complaint,lis pendensassignment, and other documents; @)defendants’ alleged failure to
provide a certain date on which the Mat&est mortgage was assigned to HSBC.

As an initial matter, the Seventh Circbhds made clear that the FDCPA “regulates
communications directed at the consumerft-dbes not extend to communications that are
allegedly meant to mislead thedge in a state court action)’Rourke v. Palisades Acquisition
XVI, LLC 635 F.3d 938, 939 (7th Cir. 2011). Therefore, Plaintiffs’ FDCPA claims are dismissed
to the extent they are based oleghtions of misrepresentationsaeanot to them but to the judge
in the foreclosure action—namely, the allegativet Defendants lied about whether the parties
had a Rule 201(k) conference.

In its motion to dismiss, ALO contends thilaé Markettes seek to use the FDCPA as an
enforcement mechanism for alleged state lawatimhs—specifically, vi@tions of the lllinois
Mortgage Foreclosure Law and the lllinois Rubé<ivil Procedure. ALO is correct that the
Seventh Circuit has rejexd such an approacBee Beler v. Blatt, Hasenmiller, Leibsker &

Moore, LLG 480 F.3d 470, 473—74 (7th Cir. 2007) (deferidaw firm’s alleged violation of



federal and state laws exempting Social Secbenefits from atichment did not support a
8 1692f claim). However, the iprary case relied upon by AL®gler v. Blatt, Hasenmiller,
Leibsker & Moore, LLCdoes not preclude FDCPA claims premised upon alleged
misrepresentations made in connection wttite court litigation. The plaintiff iBelerclaimed,
in part, that the complaint filed by the defendant fam in a state court collection suit violated
8 1692e of the FDCPA because its description of certain contracts was not clear enough to enable
an unsophisticated consumer to understaaddlationship among mehant, transaction,
processor, and creditdeler, 480 F.3d at 472. The court rejected that claim, and in so doing,
drew a line between atity and deception:
Section 1692e does not require clarity invalitings. What it says is that “[a] debt
collector may not use any false, deceptwemisleading representation or means
in connection with the collection of any débA rule against trickery differs from
a command to use plain English and wadtea sixth-grade level. Beler does not
contend that the complaint was deceptive and that the Law Firm set out to trick her
into paying money she does not owe,tormislead her into paying the wrong

person. Whatever shorthand appeared in the complaint . . . was harmless rather
than an effort to lead anyone astray.

Id. at 473.

In the wake oBeler, a number of courts ithis District haveallowed claims involving
alleged misrepresentations made in the coofsedebt collectior foreclosure actiorSee, e.g.,
Guevara v. Midland Funding NCC-2 CorNo. 07 C 5858, 2008 WL 4865550, at *5 (N.D. Il
June 20, 2008) (noting thaBeélerinvolved allegations regarding tkentent of a state complaint
and actions that potentially vatked other federal statutiegt not the FDCPA itsdlf; it did not
deal with allegations of misrepresentatiampleadings”) (emhases in originalBerg v. Blatt,
Hasenmiller, Leibsker & Moore LLQNo. 07 C 4887, 2009 WL 901011, at *5 (N.D. lll. Mar. 31,
2009); Terech v. First Resolution Mgmt. Corps4 F. Supp. 2d 537, 544 (N.D. Ill. 201Rgbir

v. Freedman Anselmo Lindberg LLo. 14 C 1131, 2015 WL 4730053, at *4-5 (N.D. Ill. Aug.



10, 2015);Speights-Carnegie v. Blackstone Condo. A$ém 15 C 3781, 2016 WL 2644864, at
*5 (N.D. Ill. May 10, 2016) (noting that “[a]lthough the Seventh Girtias expressed skepticism
of such claims, courts in this District have nitvedess repeatedly held that where, as here, the
allegations appear to fit precisely into RBCPA’s prohibition againsnisrepresenting the
character, amount, or legal statfsany debt, such state coaomplaints are covered by the
statute”) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted).

The Markettes base their FDCPA claiarsa host of alleged misrepresentations—not
mere lack of clarity or violationsf other state or federal lak&.heir allegations of false,
deceptive, and misleading representations remaiedtaim from the ambit of claims foreclosed
by Beler. But even accepting their allegations as,tRlaintiffs’ claims fall short because the
Seventh Circuit has made clear thatrenthan literal falsity is require&ee Wahl v. Midland
Credit Mgmt., Inc.556 F.3d 643, 646 (7th Cir. 2009) (“[Tip&aintiff] can’t win simply by
showing that [the defendant’s] use of the term ‘ppatbalance’ is false ia technical sense; she
has to show that it would misledite unsophisticated consumerThe Seventh Circuit has also
imposed a materiality requiremeBtee Hahn v. Triumph Partnerships LI857 F.3d 755, 758
(7th Cir. 2009) (“A statement cannot mislead unless it is material, so a false but non-material
statement is not actionable.®ee also Janetos v. Fulton Friedman & Gullace, | 825 F.3d
317, 324 (7th Cir. 2016) (“For [8 1692¢] claims, meast assess allegedly false or misleading
statements to determine whether they could have any practical impact on a consumer’s rights or
decision-making process—that is, whether tregyresent the kind aonduct the Act was

intended to eliminate.”Y.ox v. CDA, Ltd.689 F.3d 818, 826 (7th Cir. 2012) (“[A] false or

® Contrary to ALO’s suggestion, Plaintiffs’ claims aret transformed by the mere fact that certain of the
alleged misrepresentations may have violated lllinois law.

10



misleading statement is only actionable under th€EFRif it is material, meaning that it has the
ability to influence a consumer’s decision(ifjternal citation, quotation marks, and emphasis
omitted).

According to ALO, none of its alleged misrepeatations were material to the Markettes’
decisions in the foreclosure action because tleeyot dispute that they owe the debt—in other
words, they were not misled asttee validity of the debt, the entigeeking to enforce the debt, or
the debt’s enforceability. Plaintiffs respond thaLO’s misrepresentations in the [a]ssignment,
false pleadings, and concealmentlt# lost note and misnomer sad Plaintiffs to defend against
unfounded allegations, which fatdted HSBC'’s derogation of ithity to provide loss mitigation
alternatives and increased PIdist indebtedness.” (Resp. to Mots. to Dismiss at 13, Dkt. No.
40.) It is clear from Plaintiffsargument and the allegations in the complaint that the Markettes do
not dispute that they owe the debt or that thew it to HSBC; nor do they suggest that they owe
less than the amount claimed in the foreclosutiermcRather, Plaintiffs’ pmary concern is that
they were denied loss mitigation alternatives sxidisure. Yet it is unclear how any of the alleged
misrepresentations might have affected the loss mitigation process or the Markettes’ decision-
making with respect to the foreclosure litigation.

While Plaintiffs are correct that materiality is generally a determination reserved for
summary judgment, federal pleading standardsire that a complaint contain allegations
supporting a plausible claim to reli&ee Todd v. Collecto, In@.31 F.3d 734, 739 (7th Cir.

2013) (“[Plaintiff's] suit may not proceed if halegations do not plausly describe a debt
collection practice that was unfar unconscionable with respecttim.”) (in the context of a
§ 1692f claim);Manlapaz v. Unifund CCR Partnemdo. 08 C 6524, 2009 WL 3015166, at *5

(N.D. lll. Sept. 15, 2009) (dismissing an FDCPA aidiased on a technically false statement that

11



would not mislead the unsophisticated consuamel was unlikely to affect a consumer’s
reaction). As it stands, the Markettes have faiteplead any facts to ggest that Defendants’
alleged misrepresentations impacted their righisfluenced their decisions. Nor have they
shown how the allegedly false statements made any difference to the substantive outcome of the
state court proceedings. The complaint’s only atiegacelating to materialtis that Defendants’
“failure and refusal to providedate certain on which the notecamortgage [was] transferred has
material consequences for gharties[.]” (Compl. T 107, Dkt. &l 1.) The Court need not accept
that legal conclusion as truadis therefore left to spectdaas to what the material
consequences—if any—might i&&ee Velazquez v. Fair Collections & Outsourcing,, INo. 12

C 04209, 2013 WL 4659564, at *8 (N.D. Ill. Aug. 30, 20{BPlaintiff] did not explain how the
use of aliases by the cetition agents was a material migesgentation, and the bare allegation
that the practice violategs 1692e is just a formulaic allegatiof a legal conclusion, and is not
enough to survive the dismissal motion.”). Noneths] the Court will proceed to address the
materiality of each of the alleged misrepresentations in turn.

The misnomer is at best a hyper-techmitalation of the FDCPA's prohibition on false
statements. The complaint, assignment, lsngendensamed the creditor as “HSBC Bank USA,
National Association, as Trustea 8G Mortgage Securities TrusPlaintiffs complain of what
can only be characterized as a minor error énniime of the subjetrust—"Trust 2006-FRE1”
(the description used in the complaint, assignmentlisp@éndengversus “Trust 2006-FREL,
Asset Backed Certificates Seities 2006-FRE1” (the descriptiarsed in the motion to correct
misnomer) versus “Trust 2006-ER, Asset-Backed Cficates, Series 2006-FRE1” (which
Plaintiffs claim is the actual name of thagr as reported in SEC filings). Nowhere do the

Markettes make clear what they would have diifferently if the complaint, assignment, alil

12



pendendiad contained the correct name of the trilisere is no indication that this technical
falsity misled them in any way, impacted theiiligbto negotiate loss mitigation alternatives, or
otherwise affected the outcenof the foreclosure action.

With respect to the assignment, based on Hte sburt record it appears that the mortgage
was assigned to HSBC in 2006—years priath®filing of the foreclosure actidnn any event,
Plaintiffs have failed to make clear the mateyatit Defendants’ alleged ifare to include in the
assignment or otherwise a certain date on whield#bt was transferred. Perhaps there are facts
to suggest that the Markettes were meaningfidigeived by that failure, &h the amount of their
indebtedness was affected, or that the mreigmtation somehow allowed HSBC to deny them
loss mitigation alternatives. But those facts areimthe complaint, and it is not the Court’s
responsibility to attempt to conciethe dots on Plaintiffs’ behalf.

The Markettes’ allegations with respect to@k handling of the lost note at best suggest
guestionable litigation practices. Defendants’ failareeveal that they lablost the note despite
discovery requests concerningthote’s custody and care, anditHailure to produce the note
despite the state court’s orderdo so, may well justify sanctiomms an award of fees and costs
for discovery misconduct (indeelaintiffs’ complaint notes that they filed a motion for
discovery sanctions in the stateurt action). But thaloes not mean that&u conduct constitutes
a violation of the FDCPA. If such were the eaany misconduct in connection with state court
debt collection or foreclosure litigation might give rise to a separate federal cause of action. That
would put federal courts in thgosition of regulating state couitigation, and such is not their

function. Further, Plaintiffs do n@ioint to any decisions theyowld have made or actions they

" The Court may take judicial notice of proceedings in other courts—both federal and state—where the
proceedings are directly related to the matters at iSseeU.S. v. Hop&06 F.2d 254, 260 n.1 (7th Cir.
1990) (internal quotation marks omitted).

13



would have taken differently if they had kno¥vom the outset that the note was not in HSBC'’s
possession. Moreover, the state court found no gemsoe of materialafct with respect to
HSBC'’s ability to enforce on the lost note. Dedants’ alleged misrepresentations regarding
possession of the note therefore had no effeth@mltimate outcome of the foreclosure action.
Nor do Plaintiffs even attempt to explain howe tilleged misrepresentation regarding the note’s
endorsement might be relevant, much less material.

Finally, the Markettes rest their FCPAaiths on alleged errors, contradictions, and
misstatements in ALO’s foreclosure filings. Ased above, Plaintiffs gue that those errors,
contradictions, and misstatements give risevimkation of § 1692e(3), which prohibits any false
representation that any communicatisfrom an attorney. It istie that the Seventh Circuit has
held that if an attorney is not meaningfuitywolved in the subjeatommunication, then the
communication is not truly from the attorneyhich renders the communication misleading and a
violation of 8§ 1692e(3)See Nielsen v. DickersoB07 F.3d 623, 635 (7th Cir. 2002) (in the
context of dunning letters). But th@@ourt is skeptical that filingsuch as those at issue here can
give rise to such liabilityrad Plaintiffs cite no authority faheir positionFirst, errors,
contradictions, and misstatements in court filidgsot necessarily indicate that counsel was not
meaningfully involved in their preparation. (Ath@ys are certainly capable of being sloppy in
their work.) The more importapbint, however, is again one wiateriality. Section 1692e(3) is
meant to protect consumers from the false impboathat an attorney igrofessionally involved
in the collection of his or her debthat is, that an attorney “hassessed the validity of the debt
[and] is prepared to take legadtion to collect on that debtd. For “[i]t is this implicit message
that ‘get[s] the debtor’s kneé&smocking’ and makes the attornpypmmunication] a particularly

effective method of debt collectiond. (quotingAvila v. Rubin 84 F.3d 222, 229 (7th Cir. 1996).

14



It is to avoid any such false implication thdtétattorney must have mgine involvement in the
process through which the [communioal was sent to the debtoid.

Those concerns are not present here. Tisare question that ALO, as HSBC's counsel,
has been involved in the foreclosure litiga. Even if it were true that ALO was not
meaningfully involved in the preparation of certélimgs, there is no indication that ALO did not
review and evaluate the merits of HSBC's entidmt to foreclose prior to bringing suit. And
even if certain misstatements weie result of ALO’s alleged laakf meaningful review of the
file, those misstatements are immaterial forrereesons discussed above. Further, the allegations
in the complaint do not plausibly suggest thiay lack of involvement by ALO misrepresented
the validity of the debt or deceived the Matks in any meaningful sense. In other words,
Plaintiffs have failed to plead facts from whithe Court may reasonably infer that any false
implication that ALO was meangfully involvement in the pregration of filings containing
errors, contradictions, or misstatement was et the Markettestlecision-making or the
outcome of the foreclosure action.

In sum, Plaintiffs have failed to raitieeir right to relief under § 1692e above the
speculative level. While it may be possible thbafendants’ alleged misrepresentations had
material consequences, the allegations in tiheptaint do not cross the line from possible to
plausible. Because the same conduct as disdusbove forms the basis for the Markettes’

§ 1692f claim, that claim must be dismissedvadl. For if the alleged misrepresentations are
merely technically false with no material effecttbie consumer’s course of action or the outcome
of the debt collection process, how can they be unfair or unconbt@@n@ourts generally

analyze claims brought under § 1622w § 1692f in the same mann@ee Velazque2013 WL

4659564, at *8 (noting that the sarfumsophisticated consumer” standard applies to claims
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brought under both § 1692e and § 1692€e also Gros v. Midland Credit Mgmt., Indo. 06 C
5510, 2008 WL 4671717, at *4 (N.D. lll. Oct. ZM08) (“The court evaluates § 1692e and
8 1692f claims through the eyes of the ‘unsophistt@bnsumer or debtd). And a number of
courts have applied the same mateyiaequirement to both sub-sectioi@&ee, e.g., Donohue v.
Quick Collect, InG.592 F.3d 1027, 1033 (9th Cir. 2010) (“We now conclude that false but non-
material representations are not likely to misltéreelleast sophisticated consumer and therefore
are not actionable undg8 1692e or 1692f.”,embach v. Biermarb28 F. App’x 297, 303-04
(4th Cir. 2013) (holding that lbause plaintiffs’ claims rested on false misrepresentations, they
were required to show that the misrepresematiwere material to support both their § 1692e and
8 1692f claims) (unpublished, non-precedential @pihilndeed, in imposing a materiality
requirement on 8§ 1692e claims, the Seventh Cistated that “[m]ateridy is an ordinary
element of any federal claim based on a false or misleading statekhaimt, 557 F.3d at 757.
Thus, Plaintiffs’ FDCPA claims against ALO—eaghwhich is based on allegedly false or
misleading statements—must be dismissed duestttirkettes’ failure tallege facts to support
the element of materiality.
1. FDCPA Claims Against HSBC

Because Plaintiffs’ FDCPA claims against HSBC are premised on the same alleged
misrepresentations discussed above, they tai beudismissed. However, the claims against
HSBC are deficient for an additidn@ason: the Markettes’ hat&led to properly allege that
HSBC qualifies as a debt collectoitiin the meaning of the FDCPA.

“The FDCPA distinguishes between debllexiors, who are subject to the statute’s
requirements, and creditors, who are nBilith v. Triumph Partnership§77 F.3d 790, 796 (7th

Cir. 2009).See also Schlosser v. Fairbanks Capital Ca3@3 F.3d 534, 536 (7th Cir. 2003).
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“For purposes of applying the [FDCPA] to a pastar debt, these two caferies—debt collectors
and creditors—are mutually exclusiv&thlosser323 F.3d at 536. Where the party seeking to
collect a debt did not originatebut instead acquired it froomather party, the party’s status
under the FDCPA turns on whether the debt was in default at the time it was adguihe877
F.3d at 796. “[T]he Act treats assigsess debt collectors the debt sought to be collected was in
default when acquired by the assigres] as creditors if it was noSthlosser323 F.3d at 536.
Accordingly, “the purchaser of a debt in detasla debt collector fopurposes of the FDCPA
even though it owns the debt and is collecting for its&étcKinney v. Cadleway Props., In&48
F.3d 496, 501 (7th Cir. 2008).

Plaintiffs’ complaint alleges that HSBC iglabt collector “if it acgired the Markettes’
debt in default.” (Compl. § 77, Dkt. No. 77.) Teemplaint further allegethat “Defendants have
obscured HSBC's status as a debt colleloyodrafting, recording, and filing a mortgage
assignment omitting a date certain for the transfer of the dét¥ 78.) HSBC argues that
Plaintiffs’ failure to allege that HSBC did in faatquire their mortgage mhefault is fatal to their
FDCPA claims. Moreover, according to HSBOstHeficiency cannot be cured because the
Markettes’ loan was acquired 2006, years before they defaulfeéls noted above, the state

court record suggests that the sf&m did in fact occur in 2006.

8 In support, HSBC has submitted excerpts of a Mé362Form 8-K for the subject trust. Attached as an
exhibit to the 8-K is a mortgage loan purchaseegrent dated March 24, 2006, which indicates that the
loan was initially purchased by SG Mortgage Fina@oep. and then sold to SG Mortgage Securities,

LLC. The agreement states that SG Mortgage Securities, LLC “will assign all of its right, title and interest
in and to the Mortgage Loans . . . to [HSBC].” (Ma@mSupp. of HSBC’s Mot. to Dismiss Ex. 4 at 10,

Dkt. No. 30-4.) The Markettes asstrat because the agreement does not definitively establish the date of
transfer to HSBC, there is no egitte that the transfer occurred ptio the filing of the foreclosure

complaint and execution of the assignment.

According to HSBC, the Court may take judicial netaf the information in the Form 8-K because it is a

public SEC filing. HSBC also asserts that the Cauway consider the documents because Plaintiffs
reference the Form 8-K in their complaint. Howetke, case law in this Circuit is mixed on the first point,
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RegardlesRlaintiffs’ singleallegation regarding HSBC'’s statas a debt collector does
not “nudge(] their [FDCPA] claims across tlree from conceivable to plausible[.Twombly
550 U.S. at 570. Indeed, even if the Marketted affirmatively alleged that HSBC qualifies as a
debt collector (as opposed to the “if, then”-tygdkegation included in tncomplaint), the Court
would not be required to accept that allegation as 8ae.lgbal556 U.S. at 67&ee also
Jeffries v. Wells Fargo Bank, NNo. 10-CV-5889, 2011 WL 5023396, *&t (N.D. Ill. Oct. 19,
2011) (noting that the court was ramund to accept as true plaffii conclusory allegation that
“all defendants are debt collectoysA number of courts in thiBistrict haverejected FDCPA
claims where the plaintiff failed to allege suffici¢acts to suggest th#éie defendant was a debt
collector.See Jeffries2011 WL 5023396, at *Bilal v. Chase Manhattan Mortgage Corplo.
05 C 7120, 2006 WL 1650008, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Jur® 2006) (granting motion to dismiss where
plaintiff failed to articulate any factual basisttany of the defendanigere debt collectors,
instead simply stating that each of the namddraiants was a debt collector as described under
the statute)Modupe v. CitiMortgage, IncNo. 12 C 13, 2012 WL 5197389, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Oct.
19, 2012)Modupe v. CitiMortgage, IncNo. 12 C 13, 2012 WL 5197389, at *4 (N.D. lll. Oct.
19, 2012) (noting that the complainas devoid of any facts supgtiog the legal conclusion that
any of the defendants were debt collectors under the FD@RATlark v. Pinnacle Credit Servs.,
LLC, 697 F. Supp. 2d 995, 999 (N.D. Ill. 2010).

And where the defendant’s siatas a debt collector twion whether the debt was in
default at the time it was acquired, the plaimtiffist affirmatively allege that the defendant

acquired the debt in defauBiee, e.g., Allen v. Chase Home Fin. LNG. 10 C 8270, 2011 WL

and Plaintiffs’ complaint refers generally to “the Form 8k, as filed with the [SEC],” not to the May 2006
filing specifically. Because the Court agrees thatmortgage loan purchase agreement does not
definitively establish the date of transfer to HSCB@ged not decide whether it can be considered for
purposes of the instant motions.
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3882814, at *3 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 2, 2011) (“The [dedants] are not ‘debt collectors’ under the
FDCPA because [the plaintiff] does not allegattthe debt was in default when the Chase
Defendants began attempting to collect the debt[.]fatt, at least one cadun this District has
suggested that it is not sufficient to recite ta&t without additional, independent facts that
plausibly suggest that the debt was actuallgafault at the time it waacquired by the defendant.
In Frazier v. U.S. Bank National Associatjdvio. 11 C 8775, 2013 WL 1337263 (N.D. Ill. Mar.
29, 2013), the defendants contendeat the plaintiff had failed tallege sufficient facts showing
that U.S. Bank obtained the debt a thme the plaintiff was in defauld. at *8. The court
rejected that contention, pointingttee plaintiff's allegations thdte had purportedly defaulted on
his mortgage on or about August 2008 and thaRMbBad assigned the mortgage to U.S. Bank on
December 2, 2008d. The court noted that the cas@as distinguishable froi8iwulec v. Chase
Home Finance, LLCNo. 10-1875, 2010 WL 5071353 (D.N.J. D&¢2010) because the plaintiff
in Siwulechad failed to allege the date when thbtdeas obtained or the date of defaSke id.
Here, Plaintiffs have failed tallege any of the above. Thenaplaint does not allege that
HSBC is a debt collector. Instead, itgts that HSBC is a debt collecibit acquired the
Markettes’ debt in default. The Markettes do Htege that HSBC did in faacquire their debt in
default, nor do they allege angctts giving rise to a reasonabléeirence that such is the case.
Plaintiffs do not specify when exactly they ddfad on their loan, and it is unclear from the
complaint when HSBC acquired the debt. Perhapdaarkettes are right that Defendants have
obscured HSBC's status as a debt collelojoomitting a transfer date from the mortgage
assignment. But that does make it plausible-efgsosed to merely possible—that HSBC qualifies

as a debt collector. Accordingly, the MarkettEBICPA claims against HBC must be dismissed.
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[11. 1CFA Claims Against HSBC

Having dismissed the Markestd=DCPA claims against botALO and HSBC, the Court,
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1367(c)(3) and followwngjl-established Seventh Circuit precedent,
declines to exercise supplemental jurisdictionrdakie ICFA claim set forth in Count VI of the
complaint.See, e.gLeister v. Dovetail, In¢.546 F.3d 875, 882 (7th Cir. 2008) (“When the
federal claim in a case drops out before trial, the presumption is that the district judge will
relinquish jurisdiction over any supplemtal claim to the state courts.RWJ Mgmt. Co. v. BP
Products N. Am., Inc672 F.3d 476, 478 (7th Cir. 2012) (“A general presumption in favor of
relinquishment applies[.]”). Plairits do not argue that this is onéthe three situations in which
jurisdiction over supplemental claims shouldreined even though the federal claims have
dropped out, that is: where the statute of limitagiovould bar the refiling of the supplemental
claims in state couftwhere substantial federal judiciabmairces have already been expended on
the resolution of the supplemental claimsywere it is obvious how the claims should be
decidedSee Williams Electronics Games, Inc. v. Garidty9 F.3d 904, 90607 (7th Cir. 2007).

Instead, the Markettes argue that because thistipurely an issue of state law, there is no
“federal intrusion” concern. laupport, Plaintiffs assert (1) that there is a body of federal
precedent concerning the interplay between mgegervicing and state law causes of action;

and (2) their ICFA claim is premised on fedegaldance. But Plaintiffs cite no support for their

® HSBC argues in the alternative that Plaintiffs’ ICElaim is barred by the Act’s three-year statute of
limitations.See705 ILCS 505/10a(e). The Markettes respond that their claim is subject to the continuing
(or cumulative) violations doctrine because they have pled a series of wrongful acts, the cumulative effect
of which was to deny them loss mitigation alternagito foreclosure. Those are arguments that may be
taken up by the state court in theeav/Plaintiffs’ choose to re-file theliCFA claim. There is no indication

that this is a situation in which the Markettes’ clagnpotentially timely in this Court but would be barred

in state court. In other words, there is no reasonimé that the statute of limitations ran post-filing of this
lawsuit (as opposed to before then).
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concluson that thoe assertionprovide grainds for ovecoming thepresumptia in favor d
relinquishing supplenental jurigliction when the federatlaims ove which theCourt has aginal
jurisdicion have ben dismissed® Moreove, becausefiboth the erly stage 6 this lawsui and
the fact bat many & the issuesnvolved in tis lawsuitare at issueri earlier filed, currently
ongoinglitigation in state courtjudicial ecmomy weids in favor ¢ dismissal.
CONCLUSION

For the reases stated ative, Defendnts’ motians to dismis (Dkt. Nos.29, 35) are
GRANTED and Plantiffs’ complaint is dignissed withait prejudice If Plaintiffs believe thy can
cure thedeficienciesdiscussedn this opinio consistentvith the requirementsof Federal Rile of

Civil Procedure 11they shall lave until April 30, 2018to file an anended corplaint.

ENTERED:

Dated: April 5, 2018

Andrea R. Wod
United States BBtrict Judg

19 Ratherwhere therés alack of awell-develged body of pecedent, theresumptiorin favor of
relinquishment is partularly strorg. See RWdgmt. Co. vBP Prod. N.Am., Inc, 672F.3d 476, 81 (7th
Cir. 2012. That doesot mean thathe reversesitrue—that §, when thedw is settledthe presumgon is
overcone.
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